RECEIVED

Oct 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Dorchester County
Court of Common Pleas

Robert Bonds, Circuit Court Judge
R. Markley Dennis Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-18-01030
Appellate Case No. 2022-001807

Tammy China,
as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Emma Lee James,

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Hallmark Operating, LLC
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center, and
Elite Patient Care of South Carolina, PC,

Defendants,

Of which Palmetto Hallmark Operating, LLC
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center is

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s¹ motion to compel Plaintiff’s² claims to arbitration?³**
- A. Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should the circuit court have found that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that, because Ms. James effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, she, and, in turn, Plaintiff (her estate), is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?**
- (1) Did the circuit court misapprehend the nature of the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument?**
- (2) Is the circuit court’s merger analysis erroneous?**
- (a) Is this Court’s merger analysis in *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC*,⁴ erroneous?**
- (3) Is the circuit court’s equitable estoppel analysis erroneous?**
- B. At a minimum, should the circuit court have granted the Facility’s alternative request for permission to conduct limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the**

¹ The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant, Palmetto Hallmark Operating, LLC d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center. It is a skilled nursing facility.

² “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Tammy China (“Ms. China”), as personal representative of the Estate of Emma Lee James. “Ms. James” refers to the decedent, Emma Lee James.

³ To be clear, out of an abundance of caution, this issue, and the corresponding argument, covers circuit court error in terms of both the denial of the Facility’s principal motion and the denial of the Facility’s motion to alter, amend, and/or reconsider the denial of its principal motion.

⁴ Op. No. 5963 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 25, 2023) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 4 at 21).

Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability under principles relating to the law of agency?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of her daughter Emma Dunham (“Ms. Dunham”), Ms. James was admitted as a resident of the Facility in August 2018. Ms. Dunham handled the paperwork in conjunction with Ms. James’s admission, and in so doing, she signed an Admission Agreement⁵ and an Arbitration Agreement⁶ on Ms. James’s behalf.

Plaintiff commenced this wrongful death and survival action against the Facility in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas on June 9, 2021, based

⁵ (R. pp. 190–201.)

⁶ (R. p. 156.) Without question, the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1–16 (the “FAA”), applies to the Arbitration Agreement. For one reason, the Arbitration Agreement expressly states that the FAA applies (R. p. 156), and this must be enforced like any other contract term. *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 430 S.C. 188, 196, 844 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. App. 2020) (“We first consider whether the FAA applies. We hold it does, for two reasons. First, the [subject contract] provides the parties ‘specifically agree that this transaction involves interstate commerce.’ We must enforce this agreement like any other contract term.”) (citing *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363–64 (2001) (finding the FAA applied because the parties had agreed that the subject contract involved interstate commerce)). Moreover, and in any event, the FAA applies “to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363; *see also Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 268 (1995) (holding that the reach of the FAA extends to the broadest permissible exercise of Congress’s power under the Commerce Clause); *id.* at 273–77 (1995) (explaining that unless the parties specifically contract otherwise, the FAA applies whenever an arbitration agreement involves interstate commerce). And our Supreme Court has expressly held that skilled nursing facility admission agreements implicate interstate

on allegedly deficient care/treatment Ms. James received during her residency at the Facility. (R. pp. 22–41.)⁷ The Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint on August 16, 2021, denying the alleged liability, raising a number of affirmative defenses, and expressly reserving its right to compel arbitration. (R. pp. 52–63.)

On January 21, 2022, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims against it to arbitration based on the Arbitration Agreement that Ms. Dunham signed on behalf of Ms. James in conjunction with her admission (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 154–213.)⁸

Following a hearing on April 13, 2022, the circuit court, the Honorable R. Markley Dennis Jr. presiding,⁹ denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed May 4, 2022. (R. pp. 5–15.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, on May 16,

commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381–82, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732–33 (2014).

⁷ As the above caption reflects, Elite Patient Care of South Carolina, PC, is also a defendant in the case, but it is not a party to this appeal.

⁸ Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 156 (“[A]ny controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Ms. James’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Ms. James], including but not limited to”).) This plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility, but even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.”).

2022, the Facility timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 226–244.)

Prior to ruling on the Facility’s Rule 59(e) motion, however, Judge Dennis retired from the bench and went into the private practice of law. On October 24, 2022, the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes for the First Judicial Circuit (Court of Common Pleas), convened a status conference and advised the parties that, since Judge Dennis was unable to rule on the Facility’s Rule 59(e) motion, the Motion to Compel Arbitration had to be reheard by another circuit judge. (R. pp. 96:21–98:14.)

Following a hearing on November 17, 2022, the circuit court, the Honorable Roberts Bonds now presiding,¹⁰ ruled against the Facility by order filed November 28, 2022, stating:

[The Facility’s] Motion to Reconsider was heard Nov 17, 2022. After hearing arguments of council and reviewing the order of Judge Dennis, this court agrees with Judge Dennis’ findings, conclusions of law and Order and therefore, affirms his ruling. The [Facility’s] motion to Reconsider is respectfully, denied.

(R. pp. 16–18.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on December 8, 2022, the Facility timely moved Judge Bonds to alter, amend, and/or reconsider his decision. (R. pp. 245–265.)

⁹ (R. pp. 86–94.)

¹⁰ (R. pp. 95–122.)

Following a hearing on December 19, 2022,¹¹ Judge Bonds issued an order filed December 28, 2022, confirming his denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Facility's Rule 59(e) motion for the reasons set forth in Judge Dennis's May 4, 2022, order, stating:

This Form 4 shall serve as a supplement to this Court's Order of November 28th, 2022. After hearing arguments of Counsel and reviewing briefs provided to me, the Court respectfully denies [the Facility's] Motion to Compel Arbitration. Furthermore, [the Facility's] Motion to Alter/Amend/Reconsider is respectfully denied. The Court's findings and rationales can be found in Judge Dennis' May 4th, 2022 Order.

(R. pp. 19–21.) Accordingly, while it was Judge Bonds, and not Judge Dennis, who ultimately denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration (and the Facility's corresponding Rule 59(e) motion), for ease of reference, where this brief refers to the circuit court's order denying the Facility's motions, the reference is to the order of May 4, 2022, because it is the order that actually sets forth the court's reasoning.¹²

¹¹ (R. pp. 123–138.)

¹² Out of an abundance of caution, however, the Facility would note that, while it is its understanding that Judge Bonds, not Judge Dennis, ultimately denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration (and the Facility's corresponding Rule 59(e) motion), to the extent that it may be necessary, this appeal includes the Facility's appeal of Judge Dennis's order filed May 4, 2022. (R. p. 268.) And whether that order is viewed as a standalone order of Judge Dennis or as the adopted expression of Judge Bonds's reasoning, the issues/arguments presented in this brief apply with equal force in challenge thereto.

By notice served and filed December 28, 2022, this appeal timely follows.
(R. pp. 266–272.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

A. The circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument. More specifically, the circuit court should have found that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that, because Ms. James effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, she, and, in turn, Plaintiff (her estate), is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.

(1) The circuit court misapprehended the nature of the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument.

As evidenced by the language of its order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration,¹³ the circuit court failed to appreciate that the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument that does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or apparent or otherwise) on the part of Ms. Dunham or otherwise on the existence of any valid agreement per se. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of

¹³ (See R. p. 5 (“The basis of [the Facility’s] Motion is that a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement exists between the parties.”); R. p. 6 (“Because [Ms.] Dunham lacked legal authority to enter into legal agreements on behalf of her mother, neither the Arbitration Agreement nor the Admission Agreement can be considered to be valid.”); R. p. 8 (“[T]he Court must determine (1) if the Arbitration Agreement merged with and was a part of the Admission Agreement such that [Ms.] James’ estate would be equitably estopped from denying the Arbitration Agreement’s validity, and (2) if Ms. Dunham had actual or apparent authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of [Ms.] James.”).)

contract and agency law, including . . . estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining that “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*”) (emphasis added).

Conceptually, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is *not* an argument *for the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement *but rather* an argument *for Ms. James, and, in turn, Plaintiff (her estate), to be estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Ms. James having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, her estate is now estopped to deny the enforceability not only of the Admission Agreement but also the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. And by its very nature, i.e., because the Facility’s argument in favor of direct benefits estoppel is based on the direct benefits Ms. James received under the Admission Agreement

(with which the Arbitration merged), this argument applies with equal force to estop Plaintiff, i.e., Ms. James’s estate, from denying the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.

Accordingly, as to the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, any contrary analysis regarding the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement’s supposed lack of validity—e.g., that Ms. Dunham lacked authority to sign the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Ms. James under the law of agency¹⁴ and/or under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80 (the “AHCCA”),¹⁵ and/or because Ms. Dunham lacked power of attorney over Ms. James¹⁶—is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable per se but whether Ms. James, and, in turn, Plaintiff (her estate), is estopped to deny its enforceability.

¹⁴ (See R. pp. 10–11 (regarding principles of agency).)

¹⁵ (See R. pp. 6, 8 (regarding the AHCCA).)

¹⁶ (See R. pp. 6–7, 10–11 (regarding power of attorney).)

(2) The circuit court's merger analysis is erroneous.

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

The circuit court wrongfully concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contacts that do not merge. (R. pp. 8–10.) The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”¹⁷ as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,¹⁸ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed

¹⁷ *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

¹⁸ To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents *were* executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same*

together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, merger is *presumed*. For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, under the circumstances, the idea that there would have been an intention contrary to merger does not make sense.

purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

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