RECEIVED

Sep 26 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Dorchester County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert Bonds, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-18-01030
Appellate Case No. 2022-001807

Tammy China
as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Emma Lee James, Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Hallmark Operating, LLC
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center, and
Elite Patient Care of South Carolina, PC, Defendants,

Of which Palmetto Hallmark Operating, LLC
d/b/a Hallmark Healthcare Center is Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Mario A. Pacella (Bar No. 68488)

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

Appellant further argues the documents should be construed together because the “Entire Agreement” clause in the Admission Agreement refers to “other Admission materials.” This argument is unavailing. Such language, at most, creates an ambiguity as to merger. In *Coleman*, the entire agreement clause in a facility admission agreement made express reference to an “Arbitration Agreement between the Facility and the Resident, if the parties sign one.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. In its analysis, the Supreme Court acknowledged the possibility that this language could create an ambiguity as to merger, and concluded “the law is clear that *any ambiguity in such a clause is construed against the drafter.*” *Id.* at 355–56, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added). Consequently, the vague reference to “other Admission materials” creates an ambiguity at best, and such ambiguity must be construed against Appellant.

Appellant complains that construing any ambiguity against it as the drafter “does not make sense.” However, doing so is fully supported by South Carolina law and common sense. Appellant ignores the fact that, as the party who drafted both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement, it could have utilized any number of options to ensure that the documents would be construed as one without any ambiguity. Appellant could have made express reference to the Arbitration Agreement in the Admission Agreement, referred to both documents as part of the same overall document, or otherwise expressly indicated that the two were meant to be construed

together. Moreover, Appellant could have simply included the Arbitration Agreement as a clause of the Admission Agreement. Because Appellant could have easily expressed its intent for the documents to merge, it is only logical to construe undefined terms and vague references against it.

Appellant's argument regarding ambiguities further ignores the reason that nursing home facilities have chosen to separate their admission agreements and arbitration agreements. In short, South Carolina courts routinely invalidated admission agreements containing arbitration clauses seeking to insulate such facilities from liability, finding such contracts presented to infirm parties and their families were unconscionable contracts of adhesion. Consequently, nursing home facilities, as habitual tortfeasors, now present vulnerable parties and their families with arbitration agreements containing the same unconscionable terms that are separate from their admission agreements. *See Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 357, 755 S.E.2d 450, 456 (2014) (Toal, C.J., dissenting) ("Using a separate contract for arbitration agreements . . . better protects the nursing home from a contention that the arbitration contract is unconscionable."). As such, these facilities, in an effort to enforce separate arbitration agreements, insert ambiguous terms into their admission agreements and seek to have courts construe the documents together under the guise of equity. Accordingly, ambiguities in such agreements must be construed against these facilities because such facilities could easily include arbitration provisions or express references to arbitration agreements in their admission agreements if the same were written to comply with South Carolina law. *See Shotts v. OP Winter Haven, Inc.*, 86 So.3d 456, 478 (Fla. 2011), *cited with approval in Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 622, 879 S.E.2d 746, 760–61 (2022) ("Given the nature of the relationship between a nursing home and its patient, the courts ought to expect nursing homes to proffer form contracts that fully comply with [the law],

not to revise them when they are challenged to make them compliant. *Otherwise, nursing homes have no incentive to proffer a fair form agreement.*”).

Ultimately, because the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement did not merge, the circuit court properly refused to estop Respondent from denying arbitration. *See Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“Since there was no merger here, *appellants’ equitable estoppel argument was properly denied by the circuit court.*” (emphasis added)); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“Because Mable, Husband, and the Estate received no benefit from the Arbitration Agreement, *equitable estoppel would only apply if documents were merged.*” (emphasis added)).

- b. Appellant presented no evidence demonstrating that Respondent reaped the benefits of the Admission Agreement or that her claims arise solely from the contract, nor did Appellant present any evidence suggesting that Respondent or Ms. James misled the facility.**

Assuming, arguendo, that the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement merged, there is not sufficient evidence in the record to satisfy the elements of estoppel. As noted above, direct benefits estoppel applies when: (1) the nonsignatory’s claim arises from the contractual relationship, (2) the nonsignatory has exploited other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits, and (3) the claim relies only on the contract terms to impose liability. *Weaver*, 431 S.C at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272. Crucially, because equitable estoppel is “[b]orn of equity, the heart of the theory ‘is that the party entitled to invoke the principle was misled to his injury.’” *Id.* at 233, 847 S.E.2d at 274 (quoting *Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C.*, 419 S.C. 592, 601, 799 S.E.2d 912, 916 (2017)). Accordingly, “[e]stoppel cannot exist if the knowledge of both parties is equal and nothing is done by one to mislead the other.” *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 589, 553 S.E.2d at 114 (quoting *Evins v. Richland Cty. Historic Pres. Comm’n*, 341 S.C. 15, 20, 532 S.E.2d 876, 878 (2000)). Because

“[e]quitable estoppel is, ultimately, a theory designed to prevent injustice,[] it should be used sparingly.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 345, 827 S.E.2d at 177.

First, Appellant failed to present any evidence that Ms. James or Respondent exploited the benefits of the Admission Agreement. Within three months of Ms. James’s admission to Appellant’s facility for what was supposed to be a temporary stay, Appellant caused her injuries that led to her death. This Court has previously found that a party received no benefit from an admission agreement under similar circumstances. *See Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“The only agreement from which Respondents even arguably received a benefit was the Admission Agreement because Mable was admitted to the Facility as a result of it. However, *because the Facility allegedly caused Mable’s injuries that later led to her death, we find it difficult to find she benefited even from being admitted.*” (emphasis added)). Similarly, Appellant presented no evidence indicating that Respondent exploited the benefits of the Admission Agreement.

Second, Appellant failed to demonstrate that Respondent’s claims arose solely from the Admission Agreement.⁶ “[D]irect benefits estoppel is not implicated simply because a claim relates to or would not have arisen ‘but for’ a contract’s existence.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 343, 827 S.E.2d at 176. Rather, direct benefits estoppel applies only when the claim is dependent on the existence of a contract. *See id.* (“When a claim depends on the contract’s existence and cannot

⁶ Appellant argues the Circuit Court misapprehended the law regarding direct benefits estoppel, asserting that the analysis should focus on whether Ms. James received any direct benefits from the Admission Agreement rather than determining whether the claims at issue rely on contractual terms. However, the proper analysis for direct benefits estoppel requires a court to determine whether a party received direct benefits from the contract *and* whether the claims rely on solely on contractual terms. *Weaver*, 431 S.C. at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272. Thus, a failure by Appellant to demonstrate either one of these elements precludes the application of estoppel. *See id.* at 232, 847 S.E.2d at 273 (finding the respondent was not estopped from denying the enforceability of a nursing home arbitration agreement, in part, because “Weaver’s claims rely on general tort duties owed by Appellants to everyone, not any provision of the residency agreement”).

stand independently—that is, the alleged liability ‘arises solely from the contract or must be determined by reference to it’—equity prevents a person from avoiding the arbitration clause that was part of that agreement.” (quoting *Jody James Farms, JV v. Altman Grp., Inc.*, 547 S.W.3d 624, 637 (Tex. 2018))). Stated differently, if a claim is based on general duties imposed by law, direct benefits estoppel does not apply. *See id.* (“[W]hen the substance of the claim arises from general obligations imposed by state law, including statutes, torts and other common law duties, or federal law,’ direct-benefits estoppel is not implicated even if the claim refers to or relates to the contract *or would not have arisen ‘but for’ the contract’s existence.*” (quoting *Jody James Farms, JV*, 547 S.W.3d at 637)). South Carolina law does not allow a party to act in a tortious manner while shielding itself from a jury trial with an arbitration clause agreed to only by the offending party.⁷

Here, Respondent brought claims for negligence, gross negligence, and wrongful death against Appellant. These claims arise from the general duties of care imposed on Appellant by South Carolina tort law. *See Weaver*, 431 S.C. at 231, 847 S.E.2d at 272 (“[N]ursing home contracts [do not] supplant common law duties imposed by the law of ordinary negligence.”). Therefore, Respondent’s claims do not rely on the Admission Agreement and could stand independently. As such, the mere existence of the Admission Agreement is not sufficient to support the application of estoppel. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 343, 827 S.E.2d at 176 (“[D]irect benefits estoppel is not implicated simply because a claim relates to or would not have arisen ‘but for’ a contract’s existence.”).

⁷ *Cf. Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 342, 827 S.E.2d at 176 (“General principles of South Carolina law form the basis for most of Petitioners’ claims. For example, Petitioners’ allegation that Respondents possibly conspired with Willis and others to commit fraud is misconduct that does not arise from the contract. *To hold otherwise would arguably allow Respondents to commit unfair trade practices and conspire to destroy the businesses of other insurance agencies while shielding themselves from the possibility of a jury trial with an arbitration clause agreed to only by the conspiring parties.*” (emphasis added)).

Finally, Appellant failed to present any evidence demonstrating that it was misled by Ms. James, Ms. Dunham, or Respondent. *See Weaver*, 431 S.C. at 233, 847 S.E.2d at 274 (“Born of equity, the heart of the theory ‘is that the party entitled to invoke the principle was misled to his injury.’” (quoting *Rodarte*, 419 S.C. at 601, 799 S.E.2d at 916)). Any allegation that Ms. James misled Appellant is directly contradicted by the circuit court’s finding that that Ms. James was not consciously aware of anything that was occurring at the time of her admission. (R. 9). *See Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 60, 784 S.E.2d at 689 (“Here, Mother had dementia prior to being admitted to UniHealth. *Therefore, her incapacity prevented her from forming the intent or having the requisite knowledge to mislead Appellants.*” (emphasis added)). Similarly, as to Respondent, Appellant did not present any evidence demonstrating that the two parties had any contact prior to the institution of the case at bar.

As to Ms. Dunham, Appellant only argues that she signed the Arbitration Agreement and, that by signing, she represented that she had the authority to sign on Ms. James’s behalf. However, Appellant presents no evidence that it requested or sought documentation demonstrating such authority required to execute the Agreement at the time of admission.⁸ Moreover, Appellant produced no evidence that Ms. Dunham had a better understanding of the authority necessary to

⁸ Notably, the section of the Admission Agreement titled “Miscellaneous” included the following requirements regarding authority:

3. A copy of any court order appointing a guardian for the Resident’s person or estate must be supplied to the Facility. This court order must appoint the legal guardian to sign contracts on behalf of Resident. The legal guardian will only be given such rights under this Agreement as are set out in that court order. . . .

4. Representative will supply Facility with a copy of any power of attorney, durable power of attorney, and durable power of attorney for health care or other legal documentation permitting him or her to act on Resident’s behalf. . . .

(R. 200, Section XVII).

sign documents on Ms. James's behalf than Appellant. To the contrary, as a corporate entity specializing in long-term care and skilled nursing, Appellant was significantly more sophisticated and experienced with regard to the authority necessary to execute such documents. *See Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 589, 553 S.E.2d at 114 (“Estoppel cannot exist if the knowledge of both parties is equal and nothing is done by one to mislead the other.” (quoting *Evins*, 341 S.C. at 20, 532 S.E.2d at 878)). Accordingly, any misunderstanding as to Ms. Dunham's authority to make decisions on Ms. James's behalf was the result of Appellant's own failures to determine whether such authority existed and to require documentation of such authority as required by the Admission Agreement. *Cf. McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 6, 362 S.E.2d 26, 29 (Ct. App. 1987) (“[I]t is the duty of one dealing with an agent to use due care to ascertain the scope of the agent's authority.” (alteration in original) (quoting *Justus v. Universal Credit Co.*, 189 S.C. 487, 495, 1 S.E.2d 508, 511 (1939))).

Ultimately, the record is devoid of evidence supporting the application of estoppel in favor of Appellant. The circuit court's refusal to do so should be affirmed.

II. The circuit court properly refused to permit discovery regarding the agency relationship between Ms. James and Ms. Dunham, as this argument has been abandoned on appeal, Appellant had a prior duty to ascertain Ms. Dunham's authority, and Ms. James's mental capacity prevented her from creating an agency relationship.

Appellant has abandoned this argument on appeal by failing to cite to supporting authority specific to its position on appeal. Regardless, the circuit court properly denied Appellant's request for limited discovery as Appellant had a duty to determine Ms. Dunham's authority well before litigation in this matter arose, and the circuit court's findings regarding Ms. James's mental state precludes a finding that agency existed.

a. Appellant has abandoned this argument on appeal.

Appellant argues the circuit court erred by refusing to allow it to engage in limited discovery regarding the agency relationship between Ms. James and Ms. Dunham. Appellant contends such limited discovery should entitle it to depose Ms. Dunham and follow up on any evidentiary leads revealed by her deposition. In support of its argument, Appellant cites generally to case law explaining basic principles of agency law, contract law, and federal policy placing arbitration agreements on “equal footing” with other contracts. Notably, however, Appellant fails to cite any authority in support of its contention that a circuit court errs by failing to allow a party seeking to compel arbitration to engage in discovery.

Thus, because the general case law cited by Appellant, which only demonstrates basic principles of law, does not support Appellant’s specific position on appeal, Appellant has abandoned this issue. *See First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (“Appellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority *for his assertion*. Thus, he is deemed to have abandoned this issue.” (emphasis added)); *State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 212, 218, 682 S.E.2d 42, 45 (Ct. App. 2009) (holding an argument was abandoned when defendant failed to cite any authority *in specific support of his assertion* that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial); *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008) (“Billy failed to cite any authority *in support of his assertion* the special referee erred in ordering him to repay proceeds from the sale of property. Therefore, Billy abandoned this issue on appeal, and we decline to consider the argument.” (emphasis added)).

b. Appellant had a duty to determine whether Ms. Dunham had authority to make agreements on Ms. James’s behalf and consent to treatment before her admission to its facility.

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